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UNITED STATES OF AMERICA Office of Sﬁgceedmgs
Before the Proceedings Clerk

COMMODITY FUTURES TRADING COMMISSION

\ 11:37 am, Sep 24, 2015/

CFTC Docket No. 15-33

In the Matter of:
ORDER INSTITUTING
PROCEEDINGS PURSUANT TO
SECTIONS 6(c) AND 6(d) OF THE
COMMODITY EXCHANGE ACT
MAKING FINDINGS AND
IMPOSING REMEDIAL
SANCTIONS

TeraExchange LLC,

Respondent.
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The Commodity Futures Trading Commission (“Commission”) has reason to believe that
TeraExchange, LLC (“Tera”), a provisionally registered swap execution facility (“SEF”), has
violated Section 5h(f)(2) of the Commodity Exchange Act (“Act”), 7 U.S.C. § 7b-3(f)(2) (2012),
and Commission Regulation (“Regulation”) 37.203, 17 C.F.R. § 37.203 (2014). The
Commission, therefore, deems it appropriate and in the public interest that a public
administrative proceeding be, and hereby is, instituted to determine whether Tera engaged in the
violations set forth herein and to determine whether any order should be issued imposing
remedial sanctions.

In anticipation of the institution of an administrative proceeding, Tera has submitted an
Offer of Settlement (“Offer”), which the Commission has determined to accept. Tera
acknowledges service of this Order Instituting Proceedings Pursuant to Sections 6(c) and 6(d) of
the Commodity Exchange Act, Making Findings and Imposing Remedial Sanctions (“Order”).!

! Tera consents to the entry of this Order, the use of these findings in this proceeding and

in any other proceeding brought by the Commission or to which the Commission is a party;
provided, however, that Tera does not consent to the use of the Offer, or the findings in this
Order consented to in the Offer, as the sole basis for any other proceeding brought by the
Commission, other than a proceeding in bankruptcy or to enforce the terms of this Order. Nor
does Tera consent to the use of the Offer or this Order, or the findings consented to in the Offer
or this Order, by any other party in any other proceeding.


TTHOMAS
Received CFTC


III.

The Commission finds the following:

A. Summary

On October 8, 2014, two traders executed a transaction in a non-deliverable forward
contract based on the relative value of the U.S. Dollar and Bitcoin, a virtual currency (the
“Bitcoin swap”). Six minutes later, the two traders executed a fully offsetting transaction in the
Bitcoin swap for the same price and notional amount. As a result, the two transactions (the
“October 8 transactions”) constitute both wash trading and prearranged trading in violation of
Section 4c(a) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 6¢c(a) (2012).

Tera arranged the two transactions with the understanding that the parties, who did not
know of each other’s identities, would execute “a round-trip trade with the same price in, same
price out (i.e. no P/L [profit/loss] consequences)[.]” Tera employees were on Skype calls with
the two traders as they executed the transactions. The two traders involved were the only market
participants on Tera’s SEF who had completed the membership process and had received trading
privileges on the SEF.

On October 9, 2014, Tera issued a press release, stating that “TeraExchange announced
today the first bitcoin derivative transaction to be executed on a regulated exchange.” Tera
intended for its press release and a related statement by its then-president to create the
impression of actual trading interest in the Bitcoin swap.

Section 5h(f)(2)(B) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 7b-3(f)(1) (2012) and Regulation 37.203(a), 17
C.F.R. § 37.203(a) (2014), obligate Tera to establish and enforce rules prohibiting wash trading
and prearranged trading on the SEF. Instead, Tera actively arranged for the two traders to enter
into prearranged wash trades.

B. Respondent

TeraExchange, LLC is a Delaware limited liability company, with its principal place of
business in Summit, New Jersey. Tera has been registered provisionally with the Commission as
a SEF since September 19, 2013, with its application for permanent SEF registration pending.

C. Facts

Tera is operating a SEF pursuant to a grant of temporary registration by the
Commission’s Division of Market Oversight (“DMO”) effective September 19, 2013.

Tera compiled a rulebook governing the operation of the SEF and trading on the SEF by
market participants. Tera requires all participants on its SEF to comply with the SEF’s rulebook.
Tera’s rulebook states, in relevant part, that

“[nJo Participant shall create fictitious transactions or wash transactions or
execute any such Order with knowledge of its nature. No Participant shall place
or accept Orders in the same Instrument where the Participant knows or
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reasonably should know that the purpose of the Orders is to avoid taking a bona
fide market position exposed to market risk (transactions commonly known or
referred to as wash sales).”

On September 11, 2014, Tera filed with DMO a submission self-certifying the Bitcoin
swap for trading on its SEF. Tera began offering the Bitcoin swap for trading on September 12,
2014. Valuations of the Bitcoin swap are determined by reference to an index of bids, offers,
and executed transactions on a number of Bitcoin exchanges (the “Tera Bitcoin index”).

Tera’s rulebook requires a market participant to complete an onboarding process,
including the completion of an exchange user license agreement (“EULA”), before being granted
membership and being allowed to trade any product on the Tera SEF. As of October 8, 2014,
only two market participants (“Firm A” and “Firm B”) had completed the onboarding processes
to trade on the Tera SEF.

On October 7, 2014, an employee of Tera sent an email to an authorized trader for Firm
B (“Trader B”), which had recently completed the onboarding process. The Tera employee
stated that Tera had “a counterparty [Firm A] who would like to do a trade.” The Tera employee
said “we would like to test the pipes by doing a round-trip trade with the same price in, same
price out, (i.e. no P/L [profit/loss] consequences) no custodian required.” On a call that
afternoon with the Tera employee, Trader B agreed to the trade, scheduled for the following day.

On the morning of October 8, 2014, Tera employees initiated Skype calls with both
Trader A and Trader B to walk them through the trade. At 9:22 a.m., Trader A initiated a
transaction to buy a Bitcoin swap with a notional amount of $500,000 at a defined price, which
Trader B accepted. Six minutes later, Trader A initiated a transaction to sell a Bitcoin swap with
a notional amount of $500,000 and at the same defined price, which Trader B also accepted.

The two transactions on October 8 canceled each other out. The transactions were
offsetting, were intended to negate, and did negate, any market risk and achieved a “wash”
result. The transactions did not create any bona fide position in the Bitcoin swap. Further, Tera
did not charge a transaction fee or commission to either party, meaning that there were no
transaction costs associated with the two transactions.

On October 8, 2014, the National Futures Association (“NFA”) (which provides
regulatory services for Tera) and the CFTC’s Division of Market Oversight (“DMO”) separately
contacted Tera regarding the two offsetting transactions. Tera told DMO and the NFA that the
purpose of the transactions was to “test the pipes.”

Nevertheless, on October 9, 2014, Tera issued a press release, stating that “TeraExchange
announced today the first bitcoin derivative transaction to be executed on a regulated exchange.”
Tera employees forwarded drafts of the press release to Trader A and made some edits at his



request.> Also on October 9, 2014, Tera’s then-president appeared at a meeting of the
Commission’s Global Markets Advisory Committee (“GMAC”), where he stated that trades had
occurred in the Bitcoin swap the day before.

The October 8 transactions were the only transactions in the Bitcoin swap executed on
the Tera SEF as of the date of this Order and provided an opportunity for Tera to state publicly
that trading in the Bitcoin swap had occurred. Tera intended for its press release and statements
at the GMAC to create the impression of actual trading interest in the Bitcoin swap. As a result,
neither Tera’s press release nor the statements at the GMAC indicated that the October 8
transactions were pre-arranged wash sales executed solely for the purpose of testing Tera’s
systems.

These facts should be distinguished from a situation where a SEF or other designated
contract market runs pre-operational test trades to confirm that its systems are technically
capable of executing transactions and, to the extent that these simulated transactions become
publicly known, makes it clear to the public that the trades do not represent actual liquidity in the
subject market.

D. Legal Discussion

1. Compliance with SEF Core Principles

As a condition of registration, SEFs are obligated to comply with the SEF Core Principles
under the Act. Section Sh(f)(1) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 7b-3(f)(1) (2012). SEF Core Principle 2
requires that a SEF shall “establish and enforce trading, trade processing, and participation rules
that will deter abuses and have the capacity to detect, investigate, and enforce those rules|[.]”
Section 5h(f)(2)(B) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 7b-3(f)(2)(B) (2012).

A Commission regulation providing additional guidance on compliance with SEF Core
Principle 2 requires SEFs to “prohibit abusive trading practices on its markets... Specific trading
practices that shall be prohibited include...wash trading [and] pre-arranged trading][.]”
Regulation 37.203(a), 17 C.F.R. § 37.203(a) (2014).

2, Prohibition on Wash Trading and Prearranged Trading

Market participants are prohibited from engaging in “wash trading” and “prearranged
trading” in swaps under Section 4c(a) of the Act, which makes it unlawful to enter a transaction
that ““is, is of the character of, or is commonly known to the trade as, a ‘wash sale’ or
‘accommodation trade’...or is a fictitious sale or is used to cause any price to be reported,
registered, or recorded that is not a true and bona fide price.” 7 U.S.C. § 6¢(a)(2).” Congress

g Following conversations with counsel for the Commission, Tera voluntarily removed the
October 9 press release from its website.

‘ As relevant here, pursuant to Section 2(a)(1)(A) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 2(a)(1)(A) (2012)
the Commission has exclusive jurisdiction over “transactions involving swaps...traded or
executed on a... swap execution facility pursuant to section 5Sh”. In addition, the swap offered by
Tera is not subject to any exceptions to the CFTC’s jurisdiction. Regardless, Tera’s submission
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enacted Section 4c(a) of the Act to prevent collusive trades conducted away from the market.
See, generally, Merrill Lynch Futures, Inc. v. Kelly, 585 F.Supp. 1245, 1251 n.3 (S.D.N.Y.
1984). As a result of wash trading and fictitious sales, “perceived market volume [is] distorted,
and the market’s price discovery function hindered.” In the Matter of Thomas Collins, [1996-
1998 Transfer Binder] Comm. Fut. L. Rep. (CCH) § 27,194 at 45,743 (CFTC December 10,
1997) (citing In the Matter of Citadel Trading Co. of Chicago, Ltd., [1986-1987 Transfer Binder]
Comm. Fut. L. rep. (CCH) 24,085 at 32,191 (CFTC May 12, 1986).

A wash trade “is a transaction made without an intent to take a genuine, bona fide
position in the market, such as a simultaneous purchase and sale designed to negate each other so
that there is no change in financial position.” Reddy v. CFTC, 191 F.3d 109, 115 (2d Cir. 1999).
“In order to establish that a wash sale has occurred, the [Commission] must initially demonstrate
that the transaction at issue achieved a wash result. The factors that show a wash result are (1)
the purchase and sale (2) of the same delivery month of the same futures contract (3) at the same
(or a similar) price.” In re Piasio, [1999-2000 Transfer Binder] Comm. Fut. L. Rep. (CCH) §
28,276 at 50,685 (CFTC Sept. 29, 2000) (citing In re Gilchrist, [1990-1992 Transfer Binder]
Comm. Fut. L. Rep. (CCH) 9 24,993 at 37,653 (CFTC Jan. 25, 1991)), aff’d, Piasio v. CFTC, 54
F. App’x 702 (2d Cir. 2002); see also Wilson v. CFTC, 322 F.3d 555, 559 (8th Cir. 2003) (same).

In addition, the Commission “must demonstrate that the [defendant] intended to negate
risk or price competition,” and “that at the time [the defendant] chose to participate in the
transaction he knew that the transaction was designed to achieve a wash result in a manner that
negated risk.” In re Piasio, Comm. Fut. L. Rep. (CCH) 9 28,276 at 50,685 (citing In re Gimbel,
[1987-1990 Transfer Binder] Comm. Fut. L. Rep. (CCH) § 24,213 at 35,003 (CFTC Apr. 14,
1988), aff’d as to liability, Gimbel v. CFTC, 872 F.2d 196 (7th Cir. 1989), and In re Bear Stearns
& Co., [1990-1992 Transfer Binder] Comm. Fut. L. Rep. (CCH) § 24,994 at 37,665 (CFTC Jan.
25, 1991)); see also Reddy, 191 F.3d at 119 (“[T]he [Commission] must prove intent to establish
a violation of . . . Section 4c of the” Act). The Commission need not, however, prove both intent
to negate risk and intent to negate price competition; one or the other is sufficient to sustain a

self-certifying the Bitcoin swap for trading stated that “[a]s with all products listed for trading on
TeraExchange, trading in the USD/Bitcoin Swap will be subject to compliance with the Act,
Regulations and the TeraExchange Rulebook[.]” Therefore, Tera consented to the application of
the Act, including the prohibitions on wash trading and pre-arranged trading under Section 4¢(a)
of the Act, to trading in the Bitcoin swap.

Section 4c(a) of the Act applies to transactions involving the purchase or sale of any
commodity for future delivery or swap that, inter alia, may be used to “hedge any transaction in
interstate commerce in the commodity[.]” As a non-deliverable forward contract, the Bitcoin
swap may be used to hedge transactions in interstate commerce in Bitcoin. Further, Bitcoin is a
commodity under Section 1a of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 1a (2012), and is therefore subject as a
commodity to applicable provisions of the Act and Regulations.



claim under Section 4c(a), 7 U.S.C. § 6¢c(a) (2012). See, e.g., In re Gimbel, Comm. Fut. L. Rep.
(CCH) 9 24,213 at 35,003 n.7.

Prearranged trading is also a form of fictitious sales. In the Matter of Gilchrist, [1990-
1992 Transfer Binder] Comm. Fut. L. Rep. (CCH) q 24,933 at 37,653 n26 (C.F.T.C. Jan. 25,
1991). Prearranged trading involves “the use of trading techniques that give the appearance of
submitting trades to the open market while negating the risk of price competition incident to such
a market.” Harold Collins, [1986-1987 Transfer Binder] Comm. Fut. L. Rep. (CCH) § 22,982 at
31,902 (CFTC April 4, 1986), rev’d on other grounds sub nom. Stoller v. CFTC, 834 F.2d 262
(2d Cir. 1987). A series of transactions may constitute prearranged trading where “[e]ach
individual trade was initiated with the understanding that it would be matched such that, when
the prearranged transaction was complete, the...traders would have no market position and the
net financial position of the group would be zero.” In re Gimbel, [1987-1990 Transfer Binder]
Comm. Fut. L. Rep. (CCH) § 24,213 at 35,004 (CFTC Apr. 14, 1988). The two accounts
involved in a trade do not need to be owned by the same individual or entity for the trade to
constitute a fictitious sale. See, e.g., Thomas Collins, [1996-1998 Transfer Binder] Comm. Fut.
L. Rep. (CCH) 427,194 at 45,743 (CFTC December 10, 1997).

3 The October 8 Transactions Constitute Wash Trading and Prearranged
Trading

The October 8 transactions in the Bitcoin swap constitute wash trading. Trader A and
Trader B effected a wash result by the purchase and sale of the same product with the same tenor
and notional amount for the same price.4 Trader A and Trader B entered into the transaction
with the knowledge that the transactions were designed to achieve a wash result in a manner that
negated risk, as demonstrated in the Tera employee’s October 7 email to Trader B that the trades
would have “no P/L consequences.” Because Trader A and Trader B were the only participants
in the Bitcoin swap market at the time of the transactions, neither bore any price risk as their
transactions would set the only prices in the market.

Further, Trader A and Trader B, as facilitated by Tera employees, prearranged the two
October 8 transactions. Trader A and Trader B initiated the transactions “with the understanding
that it would be matched such that” the net financial result would be a nullity. While Trader A
and Trader B did not communicate directly with each other regarding the two transactions,
Tera’s involvement allowed Trader A and Trader B to prearrange the transactions while negating
any market risk.

As a result, the October 8 transactions constitute both wash trading and prearranged
trading in violation of Section 4c(a) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 6¢(a) (2012).

. The tenor of a swap is the period of time that the swap is in effect. As such, tenor is

equivalent to the contract month of a futures contract.
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4, Tera Failed to Deter, and in Fact Facilitated, Wash Trading and
Prearranged Trading in the Bitcoin Swap

Tera was obligated under Core Principle 2 to establish and enforce rules to prohibit wash
trading and prearranged trading on the SEF. Instead, Tera actively facilitated wash trading and
prearranged trading by bringing together two market participants with the express purpose of
entering into two offsetting transactions. Tera told Trader B that the transactions would be “a
round-trip trade with the same price in, same price out, (i.e. no P/L [profit/loss]
consequences)[.]” Further, Tera employees were on the telephone with both Trader A and
Trader B during the October 8 transactions to help walk the traders through the transactions.

Tera also ensured that the two transactions would have no transaction costs by not
charging any fees to Trader A or Trader B. Tera assured Trader B that no custodian would be
required, meaning that neither party would be required to post collateral for the trades.

By failing to enforce its rules against wash trading, and in fact actively arranging a wash
trade, Tera failed to comply with its obligations under SEF Core Principle 2 and Regulation
37.203(a), 17 C.F.R § 37.203(a) (2014). Further, as a result of the wash trading and prearranged
trading, Tera’s trading platform submitted reports of the two transactions to a swap data
repository which made the reports public. The reports of the two transactions created a
misleading impression of trading volume in the Bitcoin swap.’

IV.
FINDINGS OF VIOLATIONS

Based on the foregoing, the Commission finds that Tera violated Section Sh(f)(2) of the
Act, 7 U.S.C. § 7b-3(f)(2) (2012), and Regulation 37.203, 17 C.F.R. § 37.203 (2014), on October
8,2014.

V.
OFFER OF SETTLEMENT

Tera has submitted the Offer in which it, without admitting or denying the findings and
conclusions herein:

A. Acknowledges receipt of service of this Order;

B. Admit(s) the jurisdiction of the Commission with respect to all matters set forth in
this Order and for any action or proceeding brought or authorized by the
Commission based on violation of or enforcement of this Order;

& As set forth above, at p. 4, these facts distinguish Tera’s actions from a situation where a
SEF runs pre-operational test trades which it makes clear are not bona fide transactions.
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Waives: the filing and service of a complaint and notice of hearing; a hearing; all
post-hearing procedures; judicial review by any court; any and all objections to
the participation by any member of the Commission’s staff in the Commission’s
consideration of the Offer; any and all claims that it may possess under the Equal
Access to Justice Act, 5 U.S.C. § 504 (2012) and 28 U.S.C. § 2412 (2012), and/or
the rules promulgated by the Commission in conformity therewith, Part 148 of the
Regulations, 17 C.F.R. §§ 148.1-30 (2014), relating to, or arising from, this
proceeding; any and all claims that it may possess under the Small Business
Regulatory Enforcement Fairness Act of 1996, Pub. L. No. 104-121, §§ 201-253,
110 Stat. 847, 857-868 (1996), as amended by Pub. L. No. 110-28, § 8302, 121
Stat. 112, 204-205 (2007), relating to, or arising from, this proceeding; and any
claim of Double Jeopardy based upon the institution of this proceeding or the
entry in this proceeding of any order imposing a civil monetary penalty or any
other relief.

Stipulates that the record upon which this Order is entered shall consist solely of
the findings contained in this Order, to which Tera has consented; and

Consents, solely on the basis of the Offer, to entry of this Order that:

1. Makes findings by the Commission that Tera violated Section 5h(f)(2) of
the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 7b-3(f)(2) (2012), and Regulation 37.203, 17 C.F.R.
§ 37.203 (2014);

2, Orders Tera to cease and desist from violating Section Sh(f)(2) of the Act,
7 U.S.C. § 7b-3(f)(2) (2012), and Regulation 37.203, 17 C.F.R. § 37.203
(2014);

3. Orders Tera and its successors and assigns to comply with the
undertakings consented to in the Offer and set forth below in Part VI of
this Order.

Upon consideration, the Commission has determined to accept Tera’s Offer.

VI.

Accordingly, IT IS HEREBY ORDERED THAT:

A.

Tera shall cease and desist from violating Section 5h(f)(2) of the Act, 7 U.S.C.
§ 7b-3(f)(2) (2012), and Regulation 37.203, 17 C.F.R. § 37.203 (2014);,

Tera and its successors and assigns shall comply with the following conditions
and undertakings set forth in the Offer:

Public Statements: Respondent agrees that neither it nor any of its successors and
assigns, agents or employees under its authority or control shall take any action
or make any public statement denying, directly or indirectly, any findings or




conclusions in this Order or creating, or tending to create, the impression that this
Order is without a factual basis; provided, however, that nothing in this provision
shall affect Respondent’s: (i) testimonial obligations; or (ii) right to take legal
positions in other proceedings to which the Commission is not a party.
Respondent’s successors and assigns shall undertake all steps necessary to ensure
that all of its agents and/or employees under its authority or control understand
and comply with this agreement.

The provisions of this Order shall be effective as of this date.

By the Commission.

Christopher J. K'irkpatrick ’
Secretary of the Commission
Commodity Futures Trading Commission

Dated; September 24 2015
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ORDER INSTITUTING PROCEEDINGS PURSUANT TO
SECTIONS 6(c) AND 6(d) OF THE COMMODITY EXCHANGE ACT, MAKING
FINDINGS AND IMPOSING REMEDIAL SANCTIONS

The Commodity Futures Trading Commission (“Commission”) has reason to believe that
from in or about March 2014 to at least August 2014 (the “Relevant Period”), Coinflip, Inc.,
d/b/a Derivabit (“Coinflip”) and Francisco Riordan (“Riordan”) (the “Respondents”) violated
Sections 4c¢(b) and 5h(a)(1) of the Commaodity Exchange Act, as amended (the “Act”), 7 U.S.C.
88 6¢(b) and 7b-3(a)(1) (2012), and Commission Regulations 32.2 and 37.3(a)(1), 17 C.F.R. §
32.2 and 37.3(a)(1) (2014). Therefore, the Commission deems it appropriate and in the public
interest that public administrative proceedings be, and hereby are, instituted to determine
whether the Respondents engaged in the violations set forth herein and to determine whether any
order should be issued imposing remedial sanctions.

In anticipation of the institution of an administrative proceeding, the Respondents have
submitted an Offer of Settlement (“Offer’’), which the Commission has determined to accept.
Without admitting or denying any of the findings or conclusions herein, Respondents consent to
the entry of this Order Instituting Proceedings Pursuant to Sections 6(c) and 6(d) of the
Commodity Exchange Act, Making Findings and Imposing Remedial Sanctions (“Order’’) and
acknowledge service of this Order.

! Respondents consent to the entry of this Order and to the use of these findings in this proceeding and in any other
proceeding brought by the Commission or to which the Commission is a party; provided, however, that Respondents
do not consent to the use of the Offer, or the findings or conclusions in the Order consented to in the Offer, as the
sole basis for any other proceeding brought by the Commission, other than in a proceeding in bankruptcy or to
enforce the terms of this Order. Nor do Respondents consent to the use of the Offer or the Order, or the findings or
conclusions in this Order consented to in the Offer, by any other party in any other proceeding.


TTHOMAS
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I1I.

The Commission finds the following;

A, Summary

During the Relevant Period, Respondents violated Sections 4c(b) and Sh(a)(1) of the Act
and Commission Regulations 32.2 and 37.3(a)(1) by conducting activity related to commodity
options contrary to Commission Regulations and by operating a facility for the trading or
processing of swaps without being registered as a swap execution facility or designated contract
market. Specifically, during the Relevant Period, Respondents operated an online facility named
Derivabit, offering to connect buyers and sellers of Bitcoin option contracts.”

B. Respondents

Coinflip, Inc. is a Delaware corporation with a principal place of business in San
Francisco, California. During the Relevant period, Coinflip operated Derivabit and its website
derivabit.com. Coinflip has never been registered with the Commission.

Francisco Riordan is an individual residing in San Francisco, California. Riordan is a
founder, the chief executive officer, and controlling person of Coinflip. Riordan has never been
registered with the Commission.

C. Facts

Coinflip Conducted Activity Related to Illegal Commodity Options

Beginning in March 2014, Coinflip advertised Derivabit as a “risk management platform
. . . that connects buyers and sellers of standardized Bitcoin options and futures contracts.”
During this period, Coinflip designated numerous put and call options contracts as eligible for
trading on the Derivabit platform.3 For these contracts, Coinflip listed Bitcoin as the asset
underlying the option and denominated the strike and delivery prices in US Dollars. According
to the derivabit.com website, a customer could place orders by registering as a user and
depositing Bitcoin into an account in the user’s name. Premiums and payments of settlement of
the option contracts were to be paid using Bitcoin at a spot rate determined by a designated third-
party Bitcoin currency exchange. Users had the ability to, and in fact did, post bids or offers for

? Bitcoin is a “virtual currency,” defined here as a digital representation of value that functions as a medium of
exchange, a unit of account, and/or a store of value, but does not have legal tender status in any jurisdiction. Bitcoin
and other virtual currencies are distinct from “real” currencies, which are the coin and paper money of the United
States or another country that are designated as legal tender, circulate, and are customarily used and accepted as a
medium of exchange in the country of issuance.

? Although referenced it its solicitation materials, Coinflip did not offer any futures contracts during the Relevant
Period.
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the designated options contracts. Coinflip confirmed the bid or offer by communicating it to all
users through its website.*

During the Relevant Period, Derivabit had approximately 400 users.
Riordan Controlled Coinflip and Directed Its Operations

Riordan was the founder, engineer and Chief Executive Officer of Coinflip. He exercised
control over Coinflip’s daily operations and possessed the power or ability to control all aspects
of the Derivabit platform. Riordan participated in key aspects of Coinflip’s illegal activity,
including designing and implementing the Derivabit trading platform. Riordan’s control enabled
him to make design and substantive changes to Coinflip’s operations, including the transition
from offering Bitcoin options to OTC Bitcoin Forward Contracts. Ultimately, Riordan possessed
the power and ability to direct Coinflip to cease operating the Derivabit platform.

LEGAL DISCUSSION

A, Virtual Currencies Such as Bitcoin are Commodities

Section 1a(9) of the Act defines “commodity” to include, among other things, “all
services, rights, and interests in which contracts for future delivery are presently or in the future
dealt in.” 7 U.S.C. § 1a(9). The definition of a “commodity” is broad. See, e.g., Board of Trade
of City of Chicago v. SEC, 677 F. 2d 1137, 1142 (7th Cir. 1982). Bitcoin and other virtual
currencies are encompassed in the definition and properly defined as commodities.

B. Coinflip Violated Sections 4¢(b) Act and Commission Regulation 32.2

Section 4¢(b) of the Act makes it unlawful for any person to “offer to enter into, enter
into or confirm the execution of, any transaction involving any commodity . . . which is of the
character of, or is commonly known to the trade as, an ‘option’ . . ., ‘bid’, ‘offer’, ‘put’, [or]
‘call’ . .. contrary to any rule, regulation, or order of the Commission prohibiting any such
transaction.” Section 1.3(hh) defines a “commodity option transaction” and “commodity option”
to “mean any transaction or agreement in interstate commerce which is or is held out to be of the
character of, or is commonly known to the trade as, an ‘option,” ‘privilege,” ‘indemnity,” ‘bid,’
‘offer,” ‘call,” ‘put,” ‘advance guaranty,” or ‘decline guaranty,” and which is subject to regulation
under the Act and these regulations.” Section 32.2 of the Commission’s Regulations, in turn,

“In July 2014, Coinflip began to offer what it characterized as “OTC Bitcoin Forward Contracts” for trading. Under
this model, a Derivabit user would be matched through competitive bidding with a counterparty to execute a
contract to exchange US Dollars for Bitcoins at a predetermined price and date. As part of its services, Coinflip
would calculate and hold initial and maintenance margin payments and would also calculate and facilitate the
transfer of final settlements at maturity or early termination. Coinflip advertised that the users could choose to
institute an early termination at any time if its position was “in the money.” Although the price would be expressed
as an exchange rate between US Dollars and Bitcoins, Coinflip required all settlements and margin payments to be
transacted in Bitcoins. No bids or offers were posted by Derivabit users for these contracts. Although these
activities may have violated, or led to violations of, the Commodity Exchange Act, the Commission does not
address this conduct here.




provides that it shall be unlawful for any person to “offer to enter into, enter into, confirm the
execution of, maintain a position in, or otherwise conduct activity related to any transaction in
interstate commerce that is a commodity option transaction unless: (a) [s]uch transaction is
conducted in compliance with and subject to the provisions of the Act, including any
Commission rule, regulation, or order thereunder, otherwise applicable to any other swap, or (b)
[s]uch transaction is conducted pursuant to [Regulation] 32.3.”

Between at least March 2014 and July 2014, Respondents conducted activity related to
commodity option transactions, offered to enter into commodity option transactions and/or
confirmed the existence of commodity option transactions. The options transactions were not
conducted in compliance with Section Sh(a)(1) of the Act or Regulation 37.3(a)(1), a section of
the Act and a Commission regulation otherwise applicable to swaps (see infia Section C) and
were not conducted pursuant to Regulation 32.3.> Accordingly, Coinflip violated Section 4c(b)
of the Act and Commission Regulation 32.2,

C. Coinflip Violated Section Sh(a)(1) of the Act

Section 5h(a)(1) of the Act forbids any person from operating “a facility for the trading or
processing of swaps unless the facility is registered as a swap execution facility or as a
designated contract market . ...” 7 U.S.C. § 7b-3(a)(1). Section 1a(47) of the Act’s definition
of “swap” includes option contracts. 7 U.S.C. § 1a(47)(A)(1). Regulation 37.3(a)(1) similarly
requires that any “person operating a facility that offers a trading system or platform in which
more than one market participant has the ability to execute or trade swaps with more than one
other market participant on the system or platform shall register the facility as a swap execution
facility under this part or as a designated contract market under part 38 of this chapter.” 17
C.FR. §37.3(a)(1) (2014).

During the Relevant Period, Coinflip operated a facility for the trading of swaps.
However, Coinflip did not register the facility as a swap execution facility or designated contract
market. Accordingly, Coinflip violated Section Sh(a)(1) of the Act and Regulation 37.3(a)(1).

D. Riordan Is Liable for Coinflip’s Violations as Its Controlling Person Under Section
13(b) of the Act

Riordan controlled Coinflip, directly or indirectly, and did not act in good faith or
knowingly induced, directly or indirectly, Coinflip’s acts in violation of the Act and Regulations;
therefore, pursuant to Section 13(b) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 13¢(b) (2012), Riordan is liable for
Coinflip’s violations of Sections 4¢(b) and Sh(a)(1) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. §§ 6¢(b) and 7b-3(a)(1)
(2012) and Regulations 32.2 and 37.3(a)(1), 17 C.F.R. §§ 32.2 and 37.3(a)(1) (2014).

* To take advantage of the “trade option” exemptions set forth in Regulation 32,3, the offeror of the option must be
an eligible contract participant as defined in Section 1a(18) of the Act or “producer, processor, or commercial user
of, or a merchant handling the commodity,” and have a reasonable basis to believe that the offeree was a “producer,
processor, or commercial user of, or a merchant handling the commodity that is the subject of the commodity option
transaction, or the products or by-products thereof, and such offeree is offered or entering into the commodity option
transaction solely for purposes related to its business as such.” 17 C.F.R. §§ 32.3(a)(1)(1)-(ii) and 32.3(2)(2).




IV,

FINDINGS OF VIOLATIONS

Based on the foregoing, the Commission finds that, during the Relevant Period,
Respondents violated Sections 4¢(b) and Sh(a)(1) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. §§ 4c(b) and 7b-3(a)(1)
(2012), and Commission Regulations 32.2 and 37.3(a)(1), 17 C.F.R. §§ 32.2 and 37.3(a)(1)

(2014).

V.

OFFER OF SETTLEMENT

Respondents have submitted an Offer in which they, without admitting or denying the
findings and conclusions herein:

A. Acknowledge receipt of service of this Order;

B. Admit the jurisdiction of the Commission with respect to all matters set forth in this
Order and for any action or proceeding brought or authorized by the Commission based
on violation of or enforcement of this Order;

C. Waive:

1. the filing and service of a complaint and notice of hearing;

2. a hearing;

3. all post-hearing procedures;

4. judicial review by any court;

5. any and all objections to the participation by any member of the Commission’s
staff in the Commission’s consideration of the Offer;

6. any and all claims that they may possess under the Equal Access to Justice Act, 5
U.S.C. § 504 (2012) and 28 U.S.C. § 2412 (2012), and/or the rules promulgated by
the Commission in conformity therewith, Part 148 of the Commission’s
Regulations, 17 C.F.R. §§ 148.1-30 (2014), relating to, or arising from, this
proceeding;

7. any and all claims that they may possess under the Small Business Regulatory

Enforcement Fairness Act of 1996, Pub. L. No. 104-121, §§ 201-253, 110 Stat.
847, 857-868 (1996), as amended by Pub. L. No. 110-28, § 8302, 121 Stat. 112,
204-205 (2007), relating to, or arising from, this proceeding; and




8. any claims of Double Jeopardy based on the institution of this proceeding or the
entry in this proceeding of any order imposing a civil monetary penalty or any
other relief;,

D. Stipulate that the record basis on which this Order is entered shall consist solely of the
findings contained in this Order to which Respondents have consented in the Offer;

E. Consent, solely on the basis of the Offer, to the Commission’s entry of this Order that:

1. makes findings by the Commission that Respondents violated Sections 4¢(b) and
Sh(a)(1) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. §§ 6¢(b) and 7b-3(a)(1) (2012), and Commission
Regulations 32.2 and 37.3(a)(1), 17 C.F.R. §§ 32.2 and 37.3(a)(1) (2014),

2. orders Respondents to cease and desist from violating Sections 4c(b) and Sh(a)(1)
of the Act and Commission Regulations 32.2 and 37.3(a)(1); and

3. orders Respondents and their successors and assigns to comply with the
conditions and undertakings consented to in the Offer and as set forth in Part VI
of this Order.

Upon consideration, the Commission has determined to accept Respondents’ Offer.
VI
ORDER
Accordingly, IT IS HEREBY ORDERED THAT:

A. Respondents shall cease and desist from violating Sections 4c(b) and 5h(a)(1) of the Act,
7 U.S.C. §§ 6¢(b) and 7b-3(a)(1) (2012), and Commission Regulations 32.2 and
37.3(a)(1), 17 C.F.R. §§ 32.2 and 37.3(a)(1) (2014).

B. Respondents and their successors and assigns shall comply with the following conditions
and undertakings set forth in the Offer:

1. Public Statements: Respondents agree that neither they nor any of their
successors and assigns, agents, or employees under their authority or control shall
take any action or make any public statement denying, directly or indirectly, any
findings or conclusions in the Order or creating, or tending to create, the
impression that the Order is without a factual basis; provided, however, that
nothing in this provision shall affect Respondents’ (i) testimonial obligations; or
(ii) right to take legal positions in other proceedings to which the Commission is
not a party. Respondents and their successors and assigns shall undertake all
steps necessaty to ensure that all of their agents and/or employees under their
authority or control understand and comply with this agreement.

2. Cooperation with the Commission: Respondents shall cooperate fully and
expeditiously with the Commission, including the Commission’s Division of




Enforcement, and any other governmental agency in this action, and in any
investigation, civil litigation, or administrative matter related to the subject matter
of this action or any current or future Commission investigation related thereto.

The provisions of this Order shall be effective as of this date.

By the Commission.

Christopher J *Kirkpatrick

Secretary of the Commission
Commodity Futures Trading Commission

Dated: September 17,2015
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SPEECHES & TESTIMONY

Testimony of Chairman Timothy G. Massad before the U.S. House Committee on
Agriculture, Washington, DC

February 12, 2015

Thank you, Chairman Conaway, Ranking Member Petersen, and members of the
Committee. H is a privilege to appear before you for the first time as Chairman of the
Commeodity Futures Trading Commission (CFTC). | am pleased to testify today on behalf of
the Commission.

! appreciate the opportunities | have had to meet with many of you, and value your input on
the issues facing the Commission. | look forward to working with the Commities going
forward.

The CFTC oversees the futures, options, and swaps markets. While most Americans do not
participate directly in these markets, they are very important tc the daily lives of all
Americans, because they shape the prices we all pay for food, energy and many other
goods and services. They enable farmers to lock in a price for their crops, utilities to
manage their fuel cost, and manufacturers to hadge the price of industrial metals. They
enable exporters to hedge foreign exchange risk and businesses of all types fo lock in
borrowing costs. in short, the derivatives markefs enable businesses of all types to manage
risk.

For these markets to worlk well, good regulation is essential. That is why the Commission’s
job is so important and we must do ali we can to prevent fraud and manipulation in these
markets. And we must create a regulatory framework that promotes efficiency, competition,
and innovation so that these markets can thrive. | am commitied to working with this
Committee and Congress to make sure these markets continue 1o be strong, dynamic, and
an engine for economic growth.

Today, F would like to review what we have accomplished since last summer when |, as well
as two of the other three Commissioners, took office. | would also like to discuss some key
priorities going forward.

It has been a busy and produciive time for us. We have worked to make sure that
commercial end-users can continue 1o use the derivatives markets effectively and
efficiently. Ye are continuing the work to bring the cver-the-counter swaps market out of the
shadows and implement the regulatory reforms mandated by Congress. We have also been
busy carrying out our fraditional responsibilities of sunveillance, compliance, and
enforcement. And we have been addressing new developments and challenges in our
markets, particularly those created by technological development.

I'know | speak for all the Commissioners in first thanking our staff for their hard work. The
progress we have made is a cradi to their commitment and their tireless efforts,

1 also want to thank each of my fellow commissioners for their dedication. Each brings good
experience and judgment, and | appraciate our candid, robust dialogue on the wide range of
issues we face. | commend my feliow commissioners in particutar for their efforts o reach
out and make sure we are alt well informed by a diversity of views, and for their willingness
te collaborate and work constructively fogether. While we will not always agree, | believe we
are working together in good faith to do the best job we can in implementing the law and
carrying aut the Commission’s responsibilities.

Over the fast several months, the Commission has been actively listening to market
participants, getting important feedback on what is working well and what paris of our
regulatory framework may need adjusting. We have held two open meetings, and we wil
hold more open meetings in the future. The CFTC’s advisory committees have also
provided a good venue for dialogue.

in December, we had a productive meeting of cur Agricultural Advisory Committee, of which
| am the sponsor. We were honored {0 have Secretary Vilsack as our special guest. It was
an excelient opportunity to gather input directly from farmers, ranchers, and others who rely
on these markets day in and day out.

Commissioner Wetjen held a very informative meeting of our Globai Markets Advisory
Commitiee (GMAC) in October of last year, 2 Committee which focuses on matters that
affect the integrity and competitiveness of U.S. markets and U.S. firms engaged in global
business, He will alsc be convening another GMAC meeting, as weil as a meeting of our
Technology Advisory Commiitee, in the coming months. Commissioner Bowen is
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sponsoring our new Market Risk Advisory Committee. She has been working to organize it
and define its agenda. This committee will help the Commission identify and understand the
impact of evoiving market structures and movement of risk across clearinghouses,
exchanges, intermediaries, market makers, and end-users. Ang Commissioner Giancaric
has been working to bulld up our Energy and Environmental Markets Advisory Commities,
which advises the Commission on maiters of concern o exchanges, firms, end-users,
energy producers, and reguiators regarding energy and environmental markels and their
regutation by the Commission. He will be holding their first meeting shortly.

Let me turn now fo the progress we have made in each of the genersl areas | nofed.
Making Sure the Markets Work for Commercial End-Users

For the derivative markets to contribute to the broader economy, they must work well far
commercial end-users — the many manufacturers, farmers, ranchers, and other businesses
that rely on these markets o hedge commercial risks. Since last summer, we have made it
a priority to address concerns of these participants. Ve have sought to make sure that our
rules do not impose undue burdens or create unintended consequences for these
participants, and that we are creating betier, more transparent markets for them. Let me
review some of the actions we have already taken.

« Margin for Uncdleared Swaps. We have made sure that our proposed rule on margin for
uncleared swaps exempts commercial end-users frem this requirement. We have also
worked with the domestic bank regulators, who are alse responsible for issuing rules on
this subject, to mainiain a comparable approach for commercial end-users,

Local Utility Companies. in September, the Commission amended its rules so that local,
publicly-owned utility companies could continue to effectively hedge their risks in the
energy swaps market. These companies, which keep the lights on in many homes across
the country, must access these markets efficiently in order to provide reliable, cost-
effective service to their custemers. The Commission unanimously approved a change to
the swap dealer registrafion threshold for transactions with special entities which will make
that possible.

.

Customer Protection/Margin Collection. In November, the Commission proposed to modify
one of our customer-protection related rules to address a concern of many in the
agriculiural community and many smaller customers regarding the posting of collateral.
These rules had been unanimously adopted in the wake of MF Global's insolvency and
were designed fo prevent a similar fallure from recurring and to protect customers in the
event of such a failure. Market participants asked that we modify cne aspect of the rules
regarding the deadline for futures commission merchants to post “residual interest,” which,
in turn, can affect when customers must post coliateral. The change was that the deadline
would not move to earlier than 6:00 pm the day of settiement without an affimative
Commission action and an opportunity for public camment. | hope to finalize this rule
change in the very near fuiure.

Reporting Requirements, We have proposed to exempt end-users and commodity frading
advisors from certain recordkeeping requirements related fo text messages and phone
calls. This proposal is designed to make sure we do not impose undue reperting
requirements on commercial end-users. The propesal also darifies, in response to public
feedback, that oral and writien cormmunications that lead to the execution of a transaction
need not be linked to records identifying that transaction.

-

Volumetric Optionality. We have proposed to clarify our interpretation of when an
agreement, coniract, or transaction that contains embedded volumetric optionality falls
within the forward exclusion from being considered a swap. “"Embedded volumetric
optionality” refers to the contractual right of a counterparty o receive more or less of 2
commodity at the negotiated contract price. Contracts with this feature are important to,
and widely used by, a variety of end-users, including electric and natural gas utilities. The
proposed interpretation would clarify when forward contracts with embedded volumetric
optionality may be excluded from being considered swaps. In this way, the proposed
interpretation is intended to make sure commercial companies can continue {0 conduct
their daily operafions efficiently.

.

*

Treasury Affiliates of End-Users. The Commission staff took action to make sure that end-
users can use the Congressional exemption given to them regarding clearing and swap
trading if they enter into swaps through a treasury affiliate. It is common for & large
corporation with significant non-financial operations to have a separate affiliate enter into
swaps and financing transactions on behalf of the larger corporation and its subsidiaries.
CFTC staff have taken action to clarify how our rules wilt be applied to make sure that such
companies can ulilize the end-user exception
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« Interaffiliate Transaclions, We have also worked to harmonize the phasing in of certain
rules regarding clearing with the requirements in other jurisdictions. The Commission
previously adopted a final rule providing an exemption from required clearing for swaps
between certain affiliated enfities, subject to specific requirements and conditions. One
condition, designed to prevent evasion of the clearing requirement, is that any related
swap executed with an unaffiliated counterparty must be cleared in accordance with
Commission rules or comparabie rules of a foreign jurisdiction. Because other furisdictions
had not vet adopted a mandatory clearing framework, the final rule provided a temporary
aliernative compliance mechanism. We tock action because cther jurisdictions need more
time. While progress continues to be made with regard to the impiementation of mandatory
clearing regimes in foreign jurisdictions, many do not yet have a clearing mandate in place.
For this reason, the Commission staff recently extended the rule’s alternative compliance
approach untii December 21, 2015.

Reporting Reguirements for Contracts in [lliquid Markets. CFTC siaff recently granted relief
from the real-time reporting requiremants for cerfain less liguid, long-dated swap contracts
that are not subject to mandatory clearing and do not vet trade on a regulated platform.
This relief was provided in part because while Dodd-Frank requires real-time reporting for
swaps, it also requires that such reporting obligations should not lead to identifying market
participants, as that could result in competitive harm. We therefore agreed fo permit
slightly delayed reporting for these swaps.

Aluminum Market. Another issue of concern to end-users that we are focused on pertains
to the long queuss for delivery of aluminum at warehouses in this country licensed by the
London Metal Exchange (LME), the relationship of those queues fo the pricing and
delivery of aluminum, and how those issues impact market integrity and market
participants. We do not have direct reguiatory authority over those warehouses, and the
LME’s principal regulator is the Financial Conduct Authority (FCA) in the UK. However, we
are looking at these issues closely and speaking with aluminum users, the LME, the HKEx
Group, which owns the LME, and the FCA on a regular basis.

-+

Harmonization with SEC Rules. We continue to work closely with our colleagues at the
SEC. For example, in connection with the SEC’s efforts fo impiement the Jumpstart Our
Business Starfups Act (“JOBS Act”), we took action to harmonize our rules with the new
requirements. Specificaily, we revised requirements applicable to commodity pool
operators that are also registered with the SEC.

In sum, we have been very focused on fine-tuning the rules to make sure they work for
commercial end-users, and we will continue to do so.

Continuing Implementation of the New Reguilatory Framework for Swaps

tet me turn now to our efforts to implement reforms to the swap market as part of the
overall effort on financial reguiatery reform. The financial crisis that began over six years
age stands as the worst since the Great Depression: millions of jobs lost and homes
foreclosed, countless retirements and educations deferred, and businesses shuttered. It
was during the financial crisis that most Americans first heard about derivatives. That was
because over-the-counter {OTC) swaps accelerated and intensified the crisis. In the
absence of regulatory oversight, a global market had developed that allowed participants to
take on excessive risk — risk that they did not always understand, and that was opague fo
reguiators. The interconnectedness among large institutions meant that trouble at one firm
could easily cascade through the system — often across national borders. \We faced the
possibility of systemic collapse.

The Dodd-Frank Act was a comprehensive response to the market excesses and regulatory
gaps that contributed to the crisis. Title VIl embodied the four basic commiiments that were
agreed to by Ieaders of the G-20 nations to reform the OTC swaps market: reguire central
clearing of standardized swaps through regulated clearinghouses; reguire regulatory
oversight of the largest market participants; require regular reporting so that reguiators and
the public can have a view of what is happening in the market; and require transparent
trading of swaps on reguizted platforms.

We have made substantial progress in implementing these reforms. We are focused teday
on completing that work in a manner that ensures these markets continue to thrive and work
well for all participants.

« Clearing of standardized swap transactions

A primary commitment of Dodd-Frank was to require clearing of standardized swaps
transactions through clearinghouses. The use of clearinghouses in financial markets is
cermmongplace and has been around for over one hundred years. The idea is simple; if many
participants are trading standardized products on a regular basis, the tangled, hidden web
created by thousands of private bilateral irades can be replaced with 2 more transparent
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and orderly structure, like the hub and spokes of a wheel, with the dlearinghouse at the
center. The clearinghouse can then monitor the overall risk and poskions of sach
participant.

Clearing through central counterparties is now required in our markets for most interest rate
and credit default swaps. Recent daia show our progress. The percentage of fransactions
that are centrally cleared in the markats we oversee has gone from about 15% in December
2007 to about 75% today.

In accordance with Congressional direction, the CFTC acted expeditiously fo impiement
ciearing mandates. The United States was among the first of the G-20 nations ic do so.
Also as directed by Congress, the CFTC specifically exempted from those mandates
commaercial end-users, including manufacturers or farmers who use the swaps markets to
hedge. The CFTC also has exempted agricultural and electrical cooperatives, as well as
banks with agsets iotaling less than $10 billion.

Of course, ceniral clearing is not a panacea. Clearing does not eliminate the risk that a
counterparty 1o a frade wiil default — instead it provides us with powerfu! tools to monitor
that risk, manage i, and mitigate adverse effects should a default oceur. For central clearing
to work well, active, ongoing oversight is critical. And given the increasingly important role of
clearinghouses in the gicbal financial system, this is a fop priority. We must do all we canto
ensure that clearinghouses have the financial, operational and managerial resources, and
ali the necessary systems and safeguards, to operate in a fair, fransparent, and efficient
manner. We must make sure that contingency pians for clearinghouse recovery and
resolution are sufficient. Therefore, we are very focused on all of these issues in our
compliance activities and examinations of clearinghouses, as well as in thinking about our
reguiatory framework.

« Increased oversight of major market participants

Since Congress passed Dodd-Frank, we have increased oversight of major market players
through the registration and reguiation of major swap participants and swap dealers, More
than 100 are now provisionally registered. Thig fist includes many of the largest banks in the
werld. We have adopted rules requiring these registrants to chserve strong risk
management practices, and they will be subject to reguiar examinaticns to assess risk and
compliance with rules designed to mitigate excessive risk.

The new framework requires registerad swap dealers and major swap participants to
comply with standard business practices, such as documentafion and confirmation of
ransactions, as well as dispute resolution processes. They are also required o make sure
their counterparties are eligible to enter into swaps, and to make appropriate disclosures to
those counterparties about risks and conflicts of inferast.

« Reguiar reporting for increased market transparency

Congress recognized that having rules that require oversight, clearing and transparent
trading is not enough. We must have an accurate, ongoing picture of what is taking place in
the market to achieve greater transparency and to address the potential risks. A key
commitment in Dodd-Frank is ongoing reporting of swap activity. In 2008, regulators and
Congress knew very little about the size and risks in this market. Today, under cur rules, alf
swap transactions, whethar cleared or uncleared, must be reported to registered swap data
repostiories (SDRs), a new type of entity responsible for collecting and maintaining this vital
information.

This reporting will enable regulatory authorities to engage in meaningful oversight. Robust
surveillance and enforcement, so critical to maintaining market integrity, depends on the
availability of accurate market data, And increased transparency heips market participants
by increasing compeltition, facilitating the price discovery process, and enbancing
confidence in the integrity of the market. You can now go 1o public websites and see the
price and volume for individual swap transactions. And the CFTC publishes the Weekly
Swaps Report that gives the public a snapshot of the swaps market.

While we have made good progress, we have a considerable amount of work still io do to

collect and use derivatives market data effectively. There are now four data repesitories in
the U.S., and more than 20 others internationally, plus thousands of participants who must
report data.

We are engaged in three general areas of activity. First, we must have data reporting ruies
and standards that are specific and clear, and that are harmonized as much as possible
across jurisdictions, and we are leading an international effort in this regard. Only in this
way will it be possible {o frack the market and be in a position to address emerging issues.
We must also make sure the SDRs collect, maintain, and publicly disseminate data in a
manner that supports effective market oversight and transparency. This means a commen
set of guidelines and coordination among registered SDRs. Standardizing the collection and
anatysis of swaps market data requires intensely collaborative and technical work by
industry and the agency’s staff. We have been actively meeting with the SDRs on these
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issues, getting input from ather industry participants and looking at areas where we may
clarify cur own ruies.

Finally, market participants must live up o their reporting obligations. Ultimately, they bear
the responsibility to make sure that the data is accurate and reported promptly. We have
aiready brought cases o enforce these rules and will continue to do so as needed.

« Transparent trading of swaps transactions on regulated platforms

With regard to swaps trading, there is also progress as well as work fo be done. Congress
mandated that certain swaps must be fraded on a swap execution facility (SEF} or othar
reguiated exchange. Transparent trading of swaps on swap execution facilities (SEFs) can
facilitate a more open, transparent, and competitive marketplace, which will beneft all
participants.

Today, there are 22 SEFs temporarily registered, and 2 applications are pending. Each is
required to operate in accordance with certain statutory core principles. These core
principles provide a framework that includes obligafions to establish and enforce rules, as
well as policies and procedures that enable transparent and efficient trading. SEFs must
make {rading information publicly available, put info place system safeguards, and maintain
financial, operational and managerial resources necessary to discharge their
respensibilities.

Trading on SEFs is still relatively new. It hegan in October of 2013, and the trading mandate
for certain interest rate swaps and credit default swaps took effect about one year ago.
Through last year, notional value executed on SEFs was generally in excess of $1.5 triflion
weekly. Publicly available data show trading volumes are trending higher. In addition, the
number of market participanis using SEFs is increasing. One SEF recently confirmed that
participation had exceeded 700 firms.

But, there is more to do. Our rules are new, and as we gain expenence with their application
in the marketplace, we will see what works well and what doesn’t, and we will make
changes as appropriate. The SEFs themselves are developing best practices and testing
different approaches. The new technologies that are being used are likewise changing and
being refined. In addition, as other jurisdiclions develop their ruies on trading, we will iook to
try to harmoenize the rules as much as possible so as fo minimize the risk of market
fragmentation.

As | said to the SEF industry last fall, our goal shouid be to create a regulatory framework
that not only achieves the Congressional mandate of bringing this market out of the
shadows, but which also creates the foundation for the market to thrive. To do so, our ruies
must ensure transparency, integrity and oversight, while at the same fime permit innovation,
freedom and competition.

« Finalizing the Remaining Rules

We have zlsc been working on the few Dodd-Frank rules that remain to be finalized. In
September, we reproposed our rule on margin for uncieared swaps. While we have made
great progress in the proportion of swap transactions which are centrally cleared, we must
recognize that uncieared transactions will continue {o be an imporant part of the market.
Sometimes, commercial risks cannot be hedged sufficiently through swap conlracts that are
available for clearing. For example, certain products may lack sufficient liquidity to be
centrally risk managed and cleared. This may be true even for products that have been in
existence for seme time. And there will and afways should be innovation in the market,
which will lead to new producis.

That is why the rule on margin for uncleared swaps is important. Margin will continue fo be
a significant tool to mitigate the risk of default and, therefore, the potential risk to the
financial system as a whoie.

Consistent with Congressional intent, our proposal exempts commercial end-users from the
margin requirements applicable to swap dealers and major swap participants. Cur approach
seeks to provide a significant safeguard without imposing unnecessary costs on participanis
whose aclivities do not create the same level of systemic risk. We will alsc make the minor
changes necessary in our final rule to ensure conformity with the amendment to the
Commodity Exchange Act {CEA) adopted by Congress in December as part of the
Terrorism Risk Insurance Act (TRIA).

in formulating our appreach, we coordinated closely with the refevant bank regulators,
because Congress mandated that margin requirements be set by different regulatory
agencies for the respective entifies under their jurisdiction. Under the Dodd Frank Act, each
swap dealer and major swap parficipant for which there is a prudential regulator must
cormply with margin rules established by that prudential reguiator. All other swap dealers
and major swap participants must comply with margin rules established by the CFTC. | am
pleased to say that our rules and those of the bank regulators are substantially similar.

We have also been working with cur international counterparis fo harmonize our propossd
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margin rule for uncieared swaps with corresponding ruies in other jurisdictions. Europe,
Japan and the United States have each proposed ruies which are largely consistent, and
which reflect 2 set of standards agreed {o by a broader intemational consensus.

While there were some differences in the propoesals, we are working closely with our
counterparts in Europe and Japan, as well as the U.S. banking reguiators, ic fry to further
harmonize these rules. | am encouraged by the progress we are making and | hope that we
can finalize these rules i the near futare.

We are also working on two other rules regarding capital and position limits. Congress
mandated that we implement position limits to address the risk of excessive speculation. In
deing s0, we must make sure that the market works for commercial end-users seeking to
hedge routine risk through bona fide hedging.

We have received substantiat public input on the position limits rule which the siaff is
reviewing. Most recently, we received valuable input from participants at the December
Agriculiure Advisory Committee meeting. it is important that we consider these comments
carefully as we develop a rute. Commission staff wilt also be considering next steps on the
capital rule as we move forward on finalizing the propesed rule on margin for uncieared
SWaps,

Cross-Border Issues: The Challenge of Building a Global Regulatory Framework

Another key priority is working with eur international countemparts to build & strong global
regulatory framework. To achieve the goals set ouf in the 2009 G-20 commitments and
embodied in the Dodd-Frank Act, global regulators must work together to harmonize their
rules and supervision {0 the greatest extent possibie. Since | joined the CFTC, | have made
it a priority to work with our international counterparts on these issues,

The chalienge of harmonizing rules across borders is best understood by remembering the
unigue historical situation we are in. The swaps market grew 1o a global scale without any
meaningful regulation. So today, we must regulate what is already a global market, and the
new framework can only be implemenied through the actions of individual jurisdictions,
each of which has its own legal traditions, regulatory philosophy, political procass, and
market concerns. While the G-20 nations agreed o basic reform principles, there will
inevitably be differences in specific rules and reguirements. The challenge is to achieve as
consistent a framework as possible while recognizing that our responsibility as natienal
regulators is firsi and foremost to faithfully implement and enforce our own nation’s laws.
We also must remember that in many areas of financial regulation, laws vary among
nations. The fact is that, in the case of swaps, we have made great progress in
harmonization, and will continue to do so, but it will fake time.

Let me note a few of the things that are going on in our effort to work with our international
counterparts. First, | have been personally committed to this effort. Te that end, since | took
office last June, | have made a few trips to Europe and met several timas with European
and other international officiais here in the U.S. Last month, | visited Asia, where | met with
government officiais in Beijing, Hong Kong, Singapore, and Tokyo as well as with key
market participanis. These visits provide an opportunity to listen to others’ views, identify
issues of common concern, and work together to advance our shared goal of bringing the
over-the-counter swaps market out of the shadows. | have also met with my counterparts
from all over the world at board meetings of the International Organization of Securities
Commissions in Eurcpe and South America as well as the OTC Derivatives Regulators
Group. .

« Clearinghouse Recognition and Regulation

One of the most imporiant cross-border issues before the Commission over the last several
months is clearinghouse recognition and regulation. The fact is that a small number of
clearinghouses are becoming increasingly important single peints of risk in the global
financial system. This is an issue that franscends swaps. It is of equal concern to
participants in the futures and options markets because the same clearinghcuses handie
clearing for many products.

We are continuing in dialogue with the Europeans to facilitate their recognition of our
clearinghouses as equivalent. We have had productive discussions regarding the rules
governing ¢learingheuses that are located in Europe, but are also registered with the CFTC.
There are presently three such clearinghouses.

Our system of duai registration came about originally because we took a very non-territorial
view as to where clearing must occur, The 1.5, did not mandate that clearing of futures
traded on U.S. exchanges must take place in the U.S.; we simply required that it take place
through clearinghouses that are registered with us and that meet certain standards. These
standards are designed 1o ensure cusiomer protection and financial stability, and include
provisions related to our bankruptcy laws.

Dual registration and cooperative supervision have worked. The model has worked to
protect customers, it worked during the crisis, and it is 2 model on which the market has
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grown to be global Fourteen clearingheuses are currently registered with the CFTC to clear
either swaps, futures, or both. Five of those are organized outside of the United States,
inciuding three in Europe. One such dearinghouse now handles approximately 85% of
swaps clearing ard has been registered with us since 2001. in addition, the CETC is now
reviewing five regisiration applications from clearinghouses, including three located outside
the United States.

The Europeans have agreed that the framework of dual registration and cooperative
supervision should not be dismantied. We are working on the details of substituted
compliance for European clearinghouses that are dually registered with the CFTC as well
as cooperative supervision, and we are making good progress. We will alsc seek to
coordinaie with them on future swaps clearing mandates.

» Oversight of Swap Dealers and Margin for Uncleared Swaps

Another important topic is oversight of swap dealers. A key aspect of this is margirr for
uncleared swaps, which | noted earlier. We have been aclive in the development of
infernational standards in this area. The CFTC, along with the U.S. bank regulators, has
propesed rules which reflect those standards. Europe and Japan have proposed rules as
well, This is an important example of working intemationally so that the rules are as similar
as possible from the beginning. While there are still some differences in the various
proposals, we are working hard to try fo minimize those differences. § am hopeful that we
can issue final rules in the near future that are largely consistent with the rules of other
jurisdictions. As for general harmonization of rules that periain to oversight of swap dealers
much has aiready been accomplished. We issued substituted compliance determinations in
late 2013 with respect o the rules of six other jurisdictions — the European Union, Japan,
Australia, Hong Kong, Switzerland, and Canada. We vall continue to look at other
jurisdictions’ rules as those are finalized.

- Reporting

As | noted earlier, there is a lot of cross-border work going on in the area of reporting. The
number of data repositories across various jurisdictions — four in the U.S. plus moere than
20 others internationally — as well as all of the participants around the world who must
report make moving forward in this area more important than ever. We and the European
Central Bank currenfly co-chair a global task force that is seeking o standardize data
standards internationally. We are working fo achieve consistent technical standards and
identifiers for data in trade repositories. While much of this work is highly technical, itis
vitally impeortant to international cooperation and transparency.

« Trading Rules and Foreign Boards of Trade

While we have issued our swap trading rules, other jurisdictions generally have not done so.
As tindicated earlier, as other jurisdictions develop their rules, we are open fo trying to
harmonize rules as much as possible consistent with our statutory responsibifities.

Although it pertains to the futures and cptions markets more than swaps, another key
element of our cross-border effort is to recognize foreign exchanges in order to enhance
opportunities for the trading of futures globally. We have recently taken some important
actions in this area.

The CFTC does not generally reguiate the trading of futures by U.S. persons on offshore
exchanges. If a foreign futures exchange wishes to provide direct elecironic access to
paople located in the U.S., we have in the past required the exchange to apply for rolief
from our registration requirements. We have formalized that process and now foreign
exchanges, which we refer to as foreign boards of trade or FBOTs, can be officialiy
registered with us.

i am pleased to report that, under this new process, last month the CFTC approved FBOT
registration applications for the Tokyo Commodities Exchange {TOCOM), Bursa Malaysia,
and Singapore Exchange (SGX). These approvals recognize the increasing
interconnectedness of the global derivatives markets and the importance of Asia in that
deveiopment. More generally, the FBOT registration approval also demonstraies our
commitment to a coordinated regulatory approach that relies on foreign supervisory
authorities and ongeing cooperation. We look forward fo granting additional approvals in the
coming months.

« Benchmarks

Another cross-border issue that we have been focused on is the potential regulation of
financial benchmarks and indices by the European Union (EU). In our markets, thousands
of contracts reference these benchmarks and indices, such as LIBOR, S&P 500 and Brent
Crude. The integrity of benchmarks and indices is vital to our financial system. That is why
we have focused on this issue in our enforcement =fforts, as evidenced by our orders
against hanks that have fried to manipulate interest rate benchmarks {ike LIBOR and foreign
exchange benchmarks. We have also worked cooperatively with foreign regulators in these
enforcement actions, which | will return to in a moment.
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We believe there should be standards for benchmarks dasigned o ensure good
administration and transparency and minimize the risk of manipuiation. That being said, the
U has proposed legislaiion that would have adverse market consequences. In parficuiar,
benchmarks created by administrators located in countries outside the EU could not be
used by European supervised entities, such as banks and asset managers, unless the
European Comimission determines that any non-EU administrator is authorized and
equivalently supervised in the non-EU country. As you know, the United States does not
have such a government-sponsored supervisory regime for benchmarks. Accordingly, in
light of the EU’s equivalence standards, the new proposed benchmark regulation could
prohibit EV instifutions from hedging using thousands of products fraded on US futures
exchanges and swap execufion facilities.

I have expressed these concemns 1o European officials, | have encouraged them to consider
the work of the Infernational Organization of Securities Commussions (I0SCO) in this area,
which the CFTC helped lead. |IOSC0O’s Principles for Ol Price Reporting Agencies (PRA
Principles) and Principles for Financial Benchmarks provide & framework for price reporting
agencies and financial benchmark administrators {o address methodology, governance,
confiicts of interest, and disclosure. Many price reporting agencies and financial benchmark
administrators have already begun veluntarily complying with these standards.

| hope that we can continue to work with our infernational counterpasts to ensure
benchmark integrity in a way fhatf recognizes that most benchmarks are not administered
by, or regulated by, a government agency

Continuing fo Fulfiil our Traditional Responsibilities

In addition o our new responsibilities {0 oversee the swaps market, we are egually focused
on the markets that have been traditionally our responsibility, the futures and options
markets. And on a day to day basis, a lot of what we do is to focus on surveillance and
enforcement to prevent fraud and manipulation or other market abuses. Our compfiance,
examinations and registration work alsc makes sure that cusiomers are protecied,
participants comply with their obligations and the markats operate with infegrity and
transparency. Let me highlight some key elements of these efforts.

« Enforcement and Compliance

A robust compliance and enforcement program is crucial to maintaining the integrity of our
markets, as well as public confidence. As a nominee, | commitied to maintaining cur focus
in this area. And we have.

In particular, our priority has been to make sure that the markets we oversee operate fairly
for ali market participants regardless of size or sophistication. Fraud, manipulation, and
abuse should have ne place in cur financial markets.

We iook action against some of the largest banks in the world for attempted manipulation of
foreign exchange rate benchrnarks. Our investigation revealed that they attempted to
manipulate one of the largest markets in the world. We ordered the banks to pay almost
$1.5 billion in penalties and to agree to implement reforms designed to prevent the
recurrence of this behavior.

This is an imporiant case that was the product of close cooperation with foreign regulators.
Benchmarks such as these are exiremely important to our futures and swaps markets and
to the financial system generally. And the system only works if market paricipants have
confidence that henchmarks are not being manipulated. Qur action in these cases
exemplifies the CFTC’s commitment to the robust enforcement necessary to safeguard the
integrify of our markets.

So does our successful ltigation against Parnon Energy and Arcadia, two energy
companies that systematically manipulated crude ol markets to realize #iicit profits. Through
the outstanding work of CFTC enforcement staff, the CFTC sends the message that the
protection of customers and the integrity of the markets are paramount.

We are aiso actively pursuing actions against those who fry to perpetrate frauds against
seniors and other retail investors. The use of our anti-maniputation enforcement authority o
address fraud in the precious metals space is one example. These schemes, which ofien
target seniors concerned that they may outlive their retirement assets, purport to offer
consumers the ability to buy precious metals like gold using pre-arranged financing. These
fransactions are typically not conducted on an exchange. They are typically structured so
that, taking account of fees and interest, the precious metals would have fo double in value
year after year in order for the investor to make any money. Even worse, in many cases, the
fransactions are entirely fraudulent: no precious metais are ever bought. In 2014, the
Commissicn tried and won a case against Hunter-Wise, a Florida company that was a
trailblazer in the use of this scheme. In addition to Hunter Wise, we have also taken action
to shut down a host of boiler room operations used to identify and recruit potential victims.
Our work is ongoing. Just last month, we announced a settlement resulting in restitution and
civil monetary penalty of mare than £8.6 million against Gold Coast Bullion, Inc. and its
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principal.

Dodd-Frank provided the Commission with a number of new statutory tools to combat
manipulation and practices that can distort the markets, and we are using them. We have
new authority, for exampie, to attack “spocfing,” where a party entars a bid or offer without
the intent to consummate a transaction; unscripulous speculators do this to create the false
impression of liguidity in a particular product or 1o move the market price, YWe brought a civil
action using this new authority against a firm and its principal for spoofing in 2013, one of
the first such cases, and last October, the U.S. Atforney for lliinois indicted the principal for
spoofing, based on & referral from us.

We have also directed self-regulatory organizations to strengthen their efforts fo combat
spoofing. The CFTC recently recommended, for example, that CME develop sirategies o
idenfify instances of spoofing and, as appropriate, pursue actions against perpetrators. The
CFTC also recommended that CME maintain sufficient enforcement staff to prompily
prosecuie possible rule viotations. The company should take measures to ensure internal
deliberations do not delay disciplinary action.

i all of our efforts, we will also seek fo hold not just firms, but also individuals,
accounfable. We are mindiul that there is no stronger deferrent against future misconduct
than the possibility of criminal sanctions, inciuding prison. We do not have the authority to
bring criminal actions, so in cases involving willful violations of the CEA, we work closely
with the Depariment of Justice and other criminal authorifies. The perpetrators who
threaten the financial well-being of innocent participants in our markets need fo understand
that the loss of their own liberty is at stake.

We are equally focused on using our authority to ensure compliance with our ruies, such as
our reporting rules. Earlier this year, for example, we imposed penalfies against & major
bank for failing to abide by our reporting requirements.

Although our effectiveness is best measured by the quality, breadth and effect of the actions
pursued, guantitative metrics give a picture of the activity. Overall, the CFTC filed 67 new
enforcement actions during fiscal year 2014. We opened more than 240 new investigations. .
The agency obtained $3.27 billion in sanctions, including $1.8 bitlion in civil monetary
penatfies and more than $1.4 billion in restitution and disgorgement. This amount of civil
monetary penalties is more than 8 times our current annual budget.

As a complement to these efforts, we have also taken steps 1o encourage individuals fo
help us detect fraud and other misconduct, The agency’s whistleblower program, created by
the Dodd-Frank Act is one example. The program provides payments — up to 30 percent of
any sanction obiained — to eligible whistleblowers. This is a relatively new program so we
are still growing it. Already though, we are receiving relevant tips, complainis, and referrals,
We believe the program will be an imporiant tool going forward in identifying, investigating,
and prosecuting violations of the law.

We are also working to help consumers be smarter investors and detect fraudulent
schemes on their own. At the end of last year, we launched the CFTC SmartCheck
campaign. This campaign is designed to help investors identify and recognize the most
common schemes and the top signs of a fraudulent investment. The campaign includes
tools, such as an interactive website, to help investors stay ahead of the fraud perpetrafors.
For example, investors can use the website to chack the background of financial
professionais and confirm whether any pofential advisors have had past violations.

Going forward, market participants should understand that we will use all the tocls at our
disposai to ensure compliance with the law.

» Responding to Market Developments

Another example of the importance of the CFTC's role is what happenad last month when
the Swiss government removed the cap on the exchange rate between the Swiss franc and
the Euro. The resulting 23% increase in the vailue of the Swiss franc roiled the foreign
exchange markets. The CFTC dlosely monitored the markets and several firms in particular
that were facing significant iosses.

For cleared products affected by this development, CFTC staff immediaiely started
conducting stress tests of open pesitions, and staff contacted regisiered clearinghouses as
weil as clearing members with large exposures. Despite the extreme price moves, all
clearing members met their cbligations to cleaninghouses.

For uncleared products, after the CFTC learned that one firm, FXCM, had a significant
capital deficiency, CFTC staff were on site at the firm and alsc worked closely with staff
frorn the National Futures Association (NFA). Although # is not the agency’s responsibility 1o
heip a troubled firm secure capital, the CFTC was in touch with FXCM continuously through
the night and the next day concarning what actions the frm might take fo siabilize its
situaticn and meet CFTC capital requirements. The CFTC monitored the firm's efforts to
cbizin capital to insure that any capital proposed wouid meet CFTC requirements and cover
customer obligations. The CFTC and the NFA also made sure the firm did not make any
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disbursements fo the detriment of customers during this fime. The CFTC also prepared for
the necessary legal actions to protect customers o the fullest extent possible in the event
the firm was unable to secure additional capital. The firm was able to obtain a capital
infusion that satisfied CFTC reguirements and thereby stay in business.

Addressing New Challenges and Risks

Finally, | wish o discuss our work in addressing soeme new chalienges and risks in our
markets.

« Cybersecurity, Information Security, and Business Continuity

Cybersecurity is perhaps the single mest important new risk {o market infegrity and financial
stability. The need o protect our financial markets against cyber attacks is clear. These
attacks threaten privacy, information security, and business continuity, alf vital elements of a
weli-working market. We are focusing on this issue in our examinations of clearinghouses
and exchanges in particular o make sure they are doing all they can fo address this nsk.
We are aiso focusing on business continuity and disaster recovery plans, as a well-
executed disaster recovery plan will aid in the recovery from a cybersecurity event.

The risk is apparent. The examples from within and outside the finandial sector are all foo
frequent and famitiar: the latest include JP Morgan, Sony, Home Depot, and Target. Some
of our nation’s exchanges have also been targeted or suffered technoelogical probiems that
caused outages or serious concerns. And again, because of the interconnectedness of
financial institutions and market participants, an attack at one institution can have significant
repercussions throughout the system, In the Target attack, the intruder gained access fo the
Target systems by stealing credentials from a vendor used by Target. The perpetrator was
able fo locate information about Target's customers and sieal their credit card information. A
similar type of attack - known as phishing — is reported {o have been used in the recent
breach at Sony. This type of atiack launched at an exchange or clearinghouse has the
potential to have a significant impact on the operation of the venue and those entities that
use its services.

We at the CFTC have responded in a number of ways:

« First, cur Core Principles have been modemized in recent years to address cyber and
information security concerns. We have adepted regulations to implement the system
safeguards core principles for exchanges, clearinghouses, and SEFs, and we are looking
at ways to further strengthen and enhance the reguirements for information security.

We require exchanges, clearinghouses, and SEFs fo maintain system safeguards and a
risk management program, {o notify the Commission promptly of incidents, and {¢ have
recovery procedures in place. Systemically important clearinghouses, for example, must
have plans that enable them to recaver and resume daily precessing, clearing and
setflement activities no later than two hours following a disruption. They must also maintain
geographic dispersal of personnel resources to aid in recovery efforts following a
disruption.

» We conduct system safeguards examinations, using industry best praciices, to defermine
compliance with these requirements, and we menitor remediation efforts if any issues are
ientified during the examination process.

There is much more we would iike to do in this area. However, our capacity to carry out
more frequent examinations and to address cybersecurity more broadty is significantly
constrained by our current budget. Some of our major financial institufions are reportedly
spending more on cybersecurity each year than our agency’s entire budget.

« High Frequency and Automated Trading

Markets are dynamic, and the agency must keep pace {0 oversee the markets affectively.
Technology in particular is an important driver, and we have witnessed cver the last several
years a dramatic increase in automated irading. Keeping up with these develepments has
meant investing in the appropriate resources, a challenge given the agency’s budget
constraints. It has also meant reviewing our rules based on changes in market technology.
For example, in April 2612, the Commission adopted rules that require cerfain registrants to
automatically screen orders for compliance with risk limits if they are automatically
executed. The Commission aise adopted rules to ensure that trading programs, such as
algorithms, are regularly tested.

In addition to its current rules, the Commission is currently considering cormments received
in response fo its Concept Release on Risk Controls and Systemn Safeguards for Automated
Trading Environments. The Concept Reiease addresses the avolution from human-centered
to automated trading environmenits. It seeks input on a range of protections, inciuding
additional pre-trade risk controls; post-rade reporis; design, festing, and supervision
standards for automated trading systems that generate orders for entry inte automated
markets; market structure inifiatives; and other measures designed to reduce risk or
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improve the functioning of automated markets. We are still working through comments and
will make a determination on what additional measures, if any, might be necessary to
address auiomnated trading.

currencies, stch as bitcown, are an example. Viriual currencies may raise issues fora g
number of governmental agencies. The CFTC's jurisdiction with respect to virtual currencies g
will depend on the facts and circumstances pertaining to any particular activity in question. i
While the CFTC does not have policies and procedures specific to virtual currencies like
bitcain, the agency's authonty extends to futures and swaps contracts in any commaodity.
The CEA defines the term comimadity very broadly sc that in addition to traditional |
agricultural commeodities, metals, and energy, the CFTC has oversight of derivatives ¢
contracts related to Treasury securities, interest rate indices, stock market indices, % ]
|
H
i

"+ Virtual Currencies — .
We also continue o respend to market developments such as new products. Virtual ng }
%
)
1

currencies, electricity, and heating degree days, to name just a few underlying products.

Innovation is & vital part of our markets, and i is something that our regulatory framework is
designed to encourage. At the same time, our regulatory framework is intended ic prevent i
manipulation and fraud, and te make sure our markets operate with transparency and ; ]
integrity. Derivative contracts based on a virtual currency represent one area within our % |
responsibility. Recently, for example, a SEF and a designated contract market listed i ‘
contracts based on bitceins. i is important o emphasize that the existence of a condract i
does not mean the CFTC endorses use of the commodity on which the contract Is based j
and, as with all new developments, we must remain vigilant to ensure markst integrity by f
dlosely evaiuvating new contracts and related market practices, over time. We will alsc
continue to coordinate with other regulatory authorities regarding the issues rajsed by virtual
currencies as appropriale. g j

Retrospective Regulatory Review

Concurrent with our other work, we are engaged in a retrospective reguiatory review. in
response to Executive Order 13563, the CFTC developed & two-step program of
retrospeciive review, which was announced in the Federal Register on June 30, 2011. First,
as part of its implementation of financial reform under Dodd-Frank, the Commission
reviewed many of its regulations to determine the extent to which these regulations nesded
to be modified to conform to the Dodd-Frank Act. This review resuited in modifications to a
number of existing rules, both to implement regulatory changes mandated by the Dodd-
Frank Act and more generaily to update and modernize those rules. For example, the CFTC
madeg & number of changes to reflect market developmenis and to codify standard or
commoenly-accepted industry practices. :

We have now begun siep two of our review during which we will consider the remainder of
CFTC reguiations. As part of this process, the Commission wili solicit public comment to
determine which ruies may need to be modified or rescinded. Following this review, we will
foliow up with rulemaking proposals as necessary.

Resources and Budget

Advancing the goals | have outlined and fully implementing the new regulatory framework
depends on having resources that are proportionate to our responsibilities. The CFTC did
receive a budget increase for FY 2015 for which we are very grateful, It will be put to good
usa. But in my view, the CFTC's current budget still falis short. The CFTC does not have the
resources fo fulfill our new responsibilities as well as all the responsibilities it had — and still
has — prior to the passage of Dodd Frank in 2 way that most Americans wouid expact. Cur
staff, for example, is no larger than it was when Dodd-Frank was enacted in 2010.

We are foriunate to have a talented and dedicated professiconal staff, and we keep Teddy
Roosevell’s adage in mind -~ to do all we can, with what we have, where we are. But the
Jimits of our current budget are evident.

Specifically, in the absence of additional resources, the CFTC will be limited in its ability to:

Review and approve in a timely manner the many new registration applications we face
from over 100 swap dealers and over 20 swap execution facilities, as well as from

derivatives clearing organizations, designated contract markets, foreign boards of trade,
and other market participants.

*

Perform therough examinations of critical infrastructure such as clearinghouses and
exchanges, which are s important to our financial system and to financial stability.

» Engage proactively on emerging risks like cybersecurity. The CFTC needs resources to
conduct compliance examinations of cybersecurity programs of regulated entities, help
develop best practices, and respond when attacks occur.

« Respond in a timely and thorough manner o requests from registerad entities and other
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market participants for ¢larification or interpretafion of the CEA and CFTC regulations or
reguests for exemption or no-action relief; rule and product subrnissicns filed by
exchanges, clearinghouses, and other registered enfities; and submissions for ciearing
and trading mandates. Delays can have an adverse effect on efficiency, customer
protection, and financial stability, as well as liquidity and innovation.

*

Maintain and improve information technology systems and resources that are vital to ifs
mission, inclugding in particular our ability 1o receive, store and analyze vast new guantities
of data retated fo the swaps market. Handling massive amounts of swaps data and
effective market oversight both depend on the agency having up-tc-date technotogy
resources, and the staff — including analysts and economists, as well as [T and data
management professionals. Today's financial markets are driven by sophisticated use of
technology, and the CFTC cannot effectively oversee these markets unless we can keep

up.

Engage in the necessary level of market surveillance and oversight {o detect excessive
risk, fraud, manipulation or other abusive practices, which requires increasingly
sophisticated {oots and the ability to analyze massive amounts of data given the
fechnological advances in the markets.

Engage in the necessary level of risk surveiiiance and oversight fo ensure the financial
integrity of the clearing and settlement process and o protect customers in the event of a
clearinghouse or clearing member default.

= Engage in robust enforcement efforts with respect to fraud, manipulation, abusive or
disruptive practices, or other threats o market integrity and customer protection,

Simply stated, without additional resources, our markets cannot be as well supervised;
participants and their cusiomers cannot be as weli protected; market fransparency and
efficiency cannot be as fully achieved,

Conciusion

We have made substantial progress in recovering from the worst financial crisis since the
Great Depression, but there is much work yet 1o accomplish,

The United States has the best financial markets in the world. They ara the strongest, most
dynamig, most innovative, and most competitive — in large part because they have the
integrity and transparency that atiracts pariicipants. They have been a significant engine of
our econemic growth and presperity. The CFTC is commitied to doing ail we can to
strengthen our markets and enhance those gualities.

Thank you again for inviting me today. | look forward to your questions.

Lest Updated: Pesruary 12, 2615
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